1983

Research Planning, Inc. v. Bank of Utah : Brief of Plaintiff And Appellant

NATURE OF THE CASE

This case was brought under Section 9 of the Uniform Fiduciaries Act, enacted in Utah as U.C.A. § 22-1-9, infra, p. 3, to recover damages suffered when the defendant bank paid its customer's personal checks in excess of the available balance in the customer's account and applied a customer's deposit of funds, held by the customer as a fiduciary for the plaintiff, to offset the bank's advances to the customer.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The case was tried to the district court without a jury. Judgment was entered in favor of the defendant bank on the grounds (1) the bank did not have actual knowledge that its customer was committing a breach of his obligation as a fiduciary, (2) an action is done in "bad faith" under the statute when it is done dishonestly and (3) the plaintiff, Research-Planning, did not prove bad faith on the bank's part.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Research-Planning seeks the following relief on appeal:

1. That the judgment be reversed.
2. That judgment be ordered in favor of the plaintiff on the following grounds:

(a) The term "bad faith" under the statute, U.C.A. § 22-1-9, does not require dishonesty in fact in the sense of fraud, a high degree of moral guilt or evil motives.

(b) The meaning to be given to the term "bad faith" under the statute is the meaning given to the same term under the Uniform Negotiable Instruments Act.

(c) The plaintiff has met the burden of proof of "bad faith" under the statute.

STATUTE INVOLVED

U.C.A. § 22-1-9, with the pertinent portions underlined, reads as follows:

Deposits in fiduciary's personal account.—If a fiduciary makes a deposit in a bank to his personal credit of checks drawn by him upon an account in his own name as fiduciary, or of checks payable to him as fiduciary, or of checks drawn by him upon an account in the name of his principal, if he is empowered to draw checks thereon, or of checks payable to his principal and endorsed by him, if he is empowered to endorse such checks, or if he otherwise makes a deposit of funds held by him as fiduciary, the bank receiving such deposit is not bound to inquire whether the fiduciary is committing thereby a breach of his obligation as fiduciary; and the bank is authorized to pay the amount of the deposit or any part thereof upon the personal check of the fiduciary without being liable to the principal, unless the bank receives the deposit or pays the check with actual knowledge that the fiduciary is committing a breach of his obligation as fiduciary in making such deposit or in drawing such check, or with knowledge of such facts that its action in receiving the deposit or paying the check amounts to bad faith.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 6, 1980, Mr. Roger LeFevre, an officer of First Capital Mortgage Loan Corporation, opened a personal account of the corporation in the Eagle Gate branch of the bank. Mr. LeFevre was known to the assistant manager of the branch, Roger Barth, who had required a signature guarantee on the check Mr. LeFevre deposited at that time. (R. 407.)*

Barth's duties included operations, the teller line, the new accounts desk and the checking department as well as making loans. (R. 406, 407.) After the First Capital account was opened, Mr. Barth and Mr. LeFevre communicated with each

* References are to the pages of the record on appeal for the reporter's transcript.

other regarding the balance in the account. In response to Mr. LeFevre's inquiry as to the balance in the account, Mr. Barth wrote to him on August 14, saying that "your account has a balance of \$106,513.90. However, all of these funds are uncollected and no funds will be released until they are collected. * * * " (R. 408; Ex. 7.) One of the items in the uncollected balance was a \$95,500 check to First Capital that was never paid. (Ex. 8; R. 409.)

In the morning of August 19, 1980, a cashier's check for \$260,000 (Ex. 3) was deposited in the First Capital account. (R. 359-361.) The check had been given to First Capital by plaintiff, Research-Planning, the day before to be held in escrow (Ex. 21), pursuant to a loan agreement (Ex. 2, R. 353) between Research-Planning and its borrower, R. K. Buie & Associates. The money was to be used by Buie at a real estate closing that was to take place on the 19th or soon thereafter. (R. 352-356.) The money was to be disbursed when fee title to the land was obtained by Buie (R. 372) and when First Capital's lien on the property was subordinated to a first deed of trust in favor of Research-Planning (R. 353-356). First Capital was a fiduciary for Research-Planning as to the deposit and the statute, U.C.A § 22-1-9, applies to the deposit of the money in the bank.*

It was the bank's policy that all deposits of over \$1,000 be reviewed. The \$260,000 check was on Mr. Barth's desk when Steven Alder, who was a partner of Buie and also its lawyer, came into the bank the same morning of the 19th of August to "make sure the money had been deposited and to inquire into the nature of the deposit." (Tr. 373-375.)

* Defendant's response to Request for Admissions Nos. 1 and 3. (Answer to plaintiff's third set of interrogatories and request for admissions, R. 106, 107.)

During their conversation, Mr. Barth showed the \$260,000 cashier's check to Mr. Alder and told him that it had been deposited in a general account and would be paid on a first-come, first-served basis. (R. 374-377, 430.) Mr. Alder testified that he told Mr. Barth that the money was "for a very specific purpose. * * * They are for a closing that is to be held this afternoon or possibly tomorrow that will involve the addition of additional funds from First Capital Mortgage & Loan to this \$260,000. And then that those two amounts together were to be transferred to a company in Ogden—a title company for purpose of closing a real estate transaction. * * * I said that they were escrowed funds and that they had been escrowed for that purpose which was to close this real estate transaction later that day, hopefully." (R. 376-377.)

Mr. Barth testified that he was told the deposit was for a specific purpose but not that it was for a "real estate transaction" or that it should go to a "title company". (R. 430, 431.) The references to a real estate transaction and a title company are the only conflicts in the testimony of Mr. Alder and Mr. Barth.

When Mr. Alder asked Mr. Barth for the balance in the account, he was told that the information could not be given. Being bothered that the account was not a trust account, Mr. Alder then said to Mr. Barth, with some urgency in his voice, "Well, I want you to understand that if there are any draws against this check, that that is not to happen and to please call me." To this Mr. Barth said "Okay" and wrote Mr. Alder's name on the calendar on his desk. Not having a business card with him, Mr. Alder wrote his telephone number on the calendar. Mr. Alder also said, "If there are any questions or draws against this account, I would like to know. It's very important that this money be closed today." When Mr. Barth said "Okay", Mr. Alder took no further action and left the bank feeling "satisfied that

the money was there which was my original concern. I was also satisfied that it would still be there or I would hear otherwise." (R. 377, 378.) Mr. Barth testified that he had no reason to disbelieve Mr. Alder and thought he was telling the truth. (R. 429, 446.)

The deposit of the \$260,000 was a "provisional" credit to the First Capital account on the 19th and would not appear on the bank's computer until the following day. Mr. Barth was "watching" the account and acknowledged that the deposit could have been held in suspense "if the bank had had any reasons for concern about the thing * * * ." (R. 426-428.) The provisional credit given for the deposit to the First Capital account on the 19th was not available for withdrawal as of right and could have been revoked, as between the bank and First Capital, until the bank received a settlement for the deposit through banking channels. U.C.A. § 70A-4-213 (4).

In response to a second request from Mr. LeFevre as to the balance in "his" account, Mr. Barth again wrote to Mr. LeFevre saying, "The balance on your account is currently \$102,668.51. However, there is a \$95,500 check being charged back to your account today, leaving available a balance of \$7,168.51." (R. 408; Ex. 8.) Mr. Barth wrote the second letter to Mr. LeFevre because the bank had learned that a \$95,500 check drawn on another bank and deposited in the First Capital account was being "returned by the bank it was drawn on" and that Mr. LeFevre "would not be able to have access to that fund." (R. 409, 410.)

The knowledge that the \$95,500 check was coming back resulted in a hold being placed on the account on the 18th or 19th of August. Two checks drawn on the account, one for \$9,260 (Ex. 15) and one for \$415.96 (Ex. 6), which were received on the 19th were returned the following day as having been "drawn on

uncollected funds". (R. 415-417, 435, 440, 442; Ex. 6.)

Seven other checks drawn on the First Capital account, totalling \$214,164.34, were paid on the 19th. The seven checks paid on the 19th, some of them collection items (R. 433), were the following: a check for \$80,000 to Clarence Samuelson (Ex. 9) and another for \$27,500 to Natures Estates (Ex. 14), both drawn on August 12; a check for \$10,843.46 to Alma L. and Loil R. Keiser and a check for \$1,930.69 to R. Dean Hill and Jean O. Hill, both drawn on August 15 (Ex. 13); and checks for \$25,500 to National Title Guaranty (Ex. 10), \$66,000 to First Security Bank (Ex. 11) and \$2,390.19 to Bank of Utah or R. Dean Hill or Jean O. Hill (Ex. 12) all of which were drawn on August 18. (R. 410-415.) The seven checks were paid while the "hold" was still on the account and even though the \$260,000 deposit was only a provisional credit to the First Capital account.

Five of the checks paid on the 19th, four by cashier's checks (Exs. 9, 10, 11 and 12) and one by a wire transfer (Ex. 14), totalled \$201,806.15. At least four of these payments were handled by Mr. Barth who signed three* of the cashier's checks and authorized the wire transfer (R. 410, 411, 415). The two other checks that were paid (Ex. 13) apparently came to the bank and were paid "through normal banking channels" without personal attention by Mr. Barth. (R. 422.)

A second hold was placed on the account "late in the afternoon on the 19th * * * ." (R. 416-417, 419, 422.) Mr. Barth testified, in response to questions from the bank's counsel, that the second hold was placed on the account because a check for \$250,000 was presented for payment late that afternoon. (R. 421, 434,

* It was not possible to obtain a copy of the fourth cashier's check from the bank to ascertain who signed it.

435, 437.) Mr. Barth also testified, in response to questions from counsel for Research-Planning, that the bank "had some concern with the account, the way that LeFevre was handling it, there was some risk to the bank if he was at that time, the bank—he was evidently writing checks that he did not have money to cover. * * * We had been watching the account since the bank had found out that the \$95,500 was coming back. * * * Our concern is that the bank, myself, might sustain a loss. * * * Because of the way he was using the account, the bank might be liable for a loss." (R. 442, 443, 448, 449.)

Because of the holds on the account, the check for \$250,000 was refused and a check for \$20,000 (Ex. 19), which was drawn on the 19th and presented after the 3:00 o'clock p.m. cut off on that date, was not paid until August 21. (R. 420, 421.)

In spite of the two holds on the account, Mr. LeFevre, on August 20, was able to obtain a cashier's check drawn on the account and payable to himself in the amount of \$5,000. (Ex. 17.) Mr. Barth first told Mr. LeFevre that he could not have the money because the account was on hold but, when Mr. LeFevre "forced" the matter, he received the check. (R. 419.) Thereafter, while "the hold was still on the account", additional checks drawn on the account were paid, to the extent of virtually all of the \$260,000 provisional credit. (R. 420, Ex. 5.)

Mr. Barth acknowledged that he knew that money held by an escrow agent is to be used for a specific purpose and not for other purposes. (R. 424, 425.) He said that he did not inquire whether the four large checks paid by cashier's checks and the wire transfer in which he had participated were connected with the real estate closing Mr. Alder had talked about. (R. 423, 424.) Mr. Barth acknowledged that he could have asked Mr. Alder "for further information, but, I didn't." (R.

446, 425.) Mr. Barth said that the presentation of the \$250,000 check in the afternoon of the 19th made him think that he should call Mr. Alder and that he had intended to call Mr. Alder but he "didn't have time." Mr. Barth was also "going to call" Mr. Alder "on the 20th, but I didn't because of a letter we received from Roger LeFevre stating that no information must be given out on the account." (R. 435; Ex. 18.)

The bank's statement of the First Capital account shows that the deposit of the check provided by Research-Planning was finally credited to the First Capital account so that no overdraft existed in the account. (Ex. 5.)

ARGUMENT

In addition to the liability which arises from actual knowledge, a second ground of liability under the statute, supra, p. 3, arises when a bank "pays the amount of the deposit" of fiduciary funds or any part thereof upon the personal check of the fiduciary * * * with knowledge of such facts that its action in * * * paying the check amounts to bad faith."

The district court held that "an action is done in bad faith when it is done dishonestly" and that Research-Planning "failed to meet the burden of proof required by said statute." (Conclusions of law, Nos. 2 and 3; R. 205, 206.)

Counsel for Research-Planning conceded at the trial that there was no proof of bad faith in the sense of conduct characterized by fraud or complicity on the part of the bank in a breach of trust. If, however, "bad faith" under the statute does not require dishonesty in fact, then Research-Planning has proven that the bank acted in bad faith.

A BANK DOES NOT HAVE TO ACT
DISHONESTLY TO ACT IN BAD
FAITH UNDER THE STATUTE

A. The term "bad faith" as it is used in the Uniform Fiduciaries Act was intended to have the same meaning that the term had in the Uniform Negotiable Instruments Act:—It appears that the district court's interpretation of "bad faith"—as requiring dishonesty—was based upon its reading of this court's opinion in Sugar House Finance Co. v. Zions First National Bank, 21 U.2d 68, 440 P.2d 869 (1968). The issue in that case was whether negligence absent bad faith makes for liability under the Act. This court noted that "bad faith" is the antithesis of good faith and has been defined in the cases to be when a thing is done dishonestly and not merely negligently. Davis v. Pennsylvania Co. For Insurance On lives, Etc., 12 A.2d 66 (Pa. 1940)". This court also noted that "bad faith" is also defined as "some motive of self-interest. National Casualty Co. v. Caswell & Co., 45 N.E.2d 698 (Ill. 1943.)" It is evident from a review of the briefs filed in Sugarhouse Finance Co. that this court was not provided with information concerning the history of the Uniform Fiduciaries Act which shows that the drafters of the Act did not intend dishonesty in fact to be a requirement for "bad faith" under the Act.

Since the Utah statute is an enactment of the Uniform Fiduciaries Act, it should be helpful to consider what the drafters intended the term "bad faith" to mean in the Act. The underlying purpose of the Act has been stated to be the harmonizing of the common law theory, that one deals with a fiduciary at his peril, with the provisions of the Uniform Negotiable Instruments Act. Wysowateky

v. Demar-Willys, 281 P.2d 165 (Colo. 1955). From the general proposition that one who knowingly assists a fiduciary in a breach of duty is liable to the beneficial owner of the fund, 76 Am. Jur. 2d, Trusts, § 309, the law had evolved to the point in 1921 where the courts had held a depository bank chargeable with constructive notice and the duty to make inquiry to endeavor to prevent a diversion of fiduciary funds. Scott, Participation in a Breach of Trust, 34 Harv. L. Rev. 454, 477-480 (1921).

Professor Scott thought the doctrine of constructive notice had been carried to an unreasonable extent and argued his position as follows (pp. 480-481):

It is easy to sit down at leisure after the event and to see how a cautious and inquiring banker might have discovered the depositor's misconduct. It would not require the acumen of a Sherlock Holmes to follow the clues which may have been afforded. But should bankers be turned into detectives in order to prevent depositors from acting in violation of their obligations to third persons? It must be remembered also that frequently all the clues are not known to any one employee of the bank, and that the facts known to any one employee are not sufficient to arouse suspicion. It must be remembered that the processes of receiving deposits and paying checks are processes in which many employees of the bank take each his separate part. If no one of the employees has knowledge of any breach of trust the bank should not be held liable merely because it appears that at some stage by piecing together all the facts known to different employees a breach of trust would become more or less apparent. The bank is in no way to blame for receiving deposits or allowing withdrawals merely because all the facts known to several employees would, if known to one employee, have aroused a suspicion of misconduct by the depositor. The bank it is submitted should not be liable unless some officer or employee had actual knowledge of the depositor's misconduct or knowledge of facts so clearly indicating such misconduct as to show that the bank was guilty of bad faith.

Professor Scott's reference to "facts so clearly indicating such misconduct as to show that the bank was guilty of bad faith" was a reference to the meaning of the term "bad faith" under the Uniform Negotiable Instruments Act.

When the First Tentative Draft of the Uniform Fiduciaries Act was presented to the conference on uniform laws, it contained a definition of the term "bad faith" as follows:

And a thing is done in "bad faith" when it is in fact done dishonestly.

Those words were omitted from the Act by vote of the conference. Uniform Laws Annotated, Master Ed., Vol. 7A, p. 130 (1978).

What the drafters of the Uniform Act did in rejecting the proposed definition of "bad faith" was, in effect, to adopt Professor Scott's argument and to "borrow" the term, with its settled meaning, from the Uniform Negotiable Instruments Act. Trenton Trust Co. v. Western Sur. Co., 599 S.W. 2d 481, 492 (Mo. 1980); Maryland Casualty Co. v. Bank of Charlotte, 340 F.2d 550, 554 (4th Cir. 1965).

B. It is bad faith for a bank to remain passive in the face of facts clearly suggesting fiduciary misconduct, particularly where the bank has a monetary interest in the transaction.—The term "bad faith" appears in section 56 of the Uniform Negotiable Instruments Act which, in pertinent part, is very similar to section 9 of the Uniform Fiduciaries Act:

To constitute notice of infirmity in an instrument or defect in the title of the person negotiating the same, the person to whom it is negotiated must have had actual knowledge of the infirmity or defect, or knowledge of such facts that his action in taking the instrument amounted to bad faith. (Emphasis supplied.)

The term "bad faith" is not defined in the Uniform Negotiable Instruments Act but it had had a settled meaning in the law of negotiable instruments while that Act was in use and long before that Act was adopted. See Rightmere, Bad

Faith in Negotiable Paper, 18 Mich. L. Rev. 355 (1920), where the history of the term and its application in the law of negotiable instruments is discussed at length. The author of the article referred to says that the rule of "bad faith was firmly fixed in American jurisprudence" by the decision of the Supreme Court of the United States in the case of Goodman v. Simonds, 20 How. 343 (1857), which arose over an accepted and endorsed bill of exchange. In that case the Supreme Court rejected a jury instruction which would have defeated the title of a holder for value because of his want of care and caution in ascertaining the facts with regard to the drawer's interest in the bill and his authority to use the bill for his own benefit. The Goodman case established the rule that if the facts relied upon to discredit the title of a holder are outside of the instrument and if actual knowledge of the defect in title is not found, the holder recovers unless he took the instrument in bad faith; and willfully shutting one's eyes to the means of knowledge which one knows are at hand is plenary evidence of bad faith. In the words of the Goodman opinion (20 How. at 366-367):

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