1983

Research Planning, Inc. v. Bank of Utah : Brief of Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT APPLIED THE PROPER LEGAL STANDARD UNDER U.C.A. §22-1-9 IN RULING THAT THE BANK DID NOT ACT IN BAD FAITH UNLESS IT ACTED DISHONESTLY.

Plaintiff's claim against the Bank of Utah is based on Utah Code Annotated §22-1-9, which states:

If a fiduciary makes a deposit in a bank to his personal credit to checks drawn by him upon an account in his own name as fiduciary, or of checks payable to him as fiduciary, or of checks drawn by him upon an account in the name of his principal, if he is empowered to draw checks thereon, or if checks payable to his principal or endorsed by him, if he is empowered to endorse such checks, or if he otherwise makes a deposit of funds held by him as fiduciary, the bank receiving such deposit is not bound to inquire whether the fiduciary is committing thereby a breach of his obligation as fiduciary; and the bank is authorized to pay the amount of the deposit or any part thereof upon the personal check of the fiduciary without being liable to the principal, unless the bank receives the deposit or pays the check with actual knowledge that the fiduciary is committing a breach of his obligation as fiduciary in making such deposit or in drawing such checks, or with knowledge of such facts that its action in receiving a deposit or paying a check amounts to bad faith.

Under this statute, a bank can be held liable only in two situations. First, if the bank had actual knowledge that its depositor was misappropriating trust funds when checks were paid on its account, and, second, if the bank had sufficient information so that its conduct in paying a check constituted bad

faith.

Appellant's statement of the relief sought on appeal and its points raised in argument clearly indicate that it does not dispute the trial court's finding that the Bank of Utah did not have actual knowledge of misappropriation when it paid checks drawn on First Capital's general checking account. Thus, appellant admits it failed to meet the "actual knowledge" burden of proof. Appellant asks this court to hold that "bad faith" under Utah Code Annotated §22-1-9 does not mean dishonesty. In order for this court to make such a ruling, it would be required to overrule prior Utah law and also apply a definition which is contrary to that applied by numerous other jurisdictions.

"Bad faith" as used in §22-1-9, was defined by the Utah Supreme Court in Sugarhouse Finance Co. v. Zions First National Bank, 21 Utah 2d 68, 440 P.2d 869 (1968). In this case, the plaintiff had a checking account with Walker Bank. The plaintiff's manager, a Mr. Davis, was authorized to draw checks on the Walker Bank checking account with one other required signature on the checks. Davis drew 32 checks on plaintiff's account making them payable to various payees. The checks were endorsed by one other individual, not by any of the named payees, and were then deposited by Davis into his account at Zions First National Bank. The checks drawn on the Walker Bank account were honored and charged against plaintiff's account. Davis withdrew the money from his account at Zions First National Bank and converted it to his own use.

Plaintiff filed suit against both Walker Bank and Zions National Bank. The trial court dismissed the claims against Zions with prejudice and plaintiff appealed. Zions defended on the basis of Utah Code Annotated §22-1-9. Referring to the bad faith standard, the Utah Supreme Court stated:

The statute does not define "bad faith." However, it defines "good faith" as being done honestly, whether it is done negligently or not. "Bad faith" is the antithesis of good faith and has been defined in the cases to be when a thing is done dishonestly and not merely negligently. . . . It is also defined as that which imports a dishonest purpose and implies wrong-doing or some motive of self-interest. [440 P.2d at 870]

Thus, in order to prove bad faith under U.C.A. §22-1-9, the plaintiff must prove that the Bank acted dishonestly.

The Sugarhouse Finance court also made some very pertinent comments regarding the purposes of §22-1-9, as follows:

The purposes to be accomplished by this Act would seem to be to facilitate banking and financial transactions by relieving the depositary banks and others dealing with a fiduciary from the duty imposed at common law of seeing that fiduciary funds are properly applied to the account of the principal. In other words, the statute places a duty upon principals to use only honest fiduciaries, and gives relief to those who deal with fiduciaries except where they know the fiduciary is breaching his duty to his principal or where they have knowledge of such facts that their action in dealing with the fiduciary amounts to bad faith.

. . . .

. . . There may be a lot of reasons why a principal and his fiduciary may engage in odd and unusual check writing, such, for example, as making a political contribution or putting funds into a secret agent's possession to purchase property and hold it in a name other than that of the principal. The statute was intended to cover just such situations. If a principal cannot trust his agent with money, he ought to put the agent under bond. [Id.]

Thus, the Uniform Fiduciaries Act was intended to limit and narrow the liability of banks. The statute is designed to place the responsibility for the honesty of fiduciaries on the principal.

The Utah Supreme Court made reference to U.C.A. §22-1-9 in Movie Films, Inc. v. First Security Bank of Utah, N.A., 22 Utah 2d 1, 447 P.2d 38 (1968), and stated that "the purpose of [§22-1-9] is to protect the bank where it allows withdrawals on the personal order of a fiduciary who may be breaching his trust, unless the latter fact is known to the bank." [447 P.2d at 40, Footnote 2]

This court approved the Sugarhouse Finance definition of bad faith in Braswell Motor Frgt. Lines, Inc. v. Bank of Salt Lake, 28 Utah 2d 347, 502 P.2d 560 (1972), wherein it stated:

There is no suggestion that the bank knew of any fraudulent scheme or acted in bad faith in its dealings with the depositor Kendall. As to the meaning of the term "bad faith" see Sugarhouse Finance Co. v. Zions First National Bank, 21 Utah 2d 68, 440 P.2d 869 (1968). [502 P.2d at 562]

Appellant suggests that the Utah Supreme Court's prior

holdings that proof of bad faith requires a showing of dishonesty on the part of the bank does not comport with the meaning intended for the term "bad faith" by the drafters of the Uniform Fiduciaries Act. Respondent suggests that appellant's argument, not this court's reasoning, is erroneous. This court does not need to look to the intent of the drafters of the Uniform Act to interpret the term bad faith.

On numerous occasions, this court has set down the basic principles relating to statutory construction. In Cannon v. McDonald, 615 P.2d 1268 (Utah 1980), the court stated:

In interpreting the statutory language care must be taken to construe the words used in light of the total context of the legislation, and when the construction of a section involves technical words and phrases which are defined by statute, the provision must be construed according to such peculiar and appropriate meaning or definition. [615 P.2d at 1270]

The court need not consider the underlying intent of the legislature when interpreting a statute unless there is ambiguity in the language itself. In State v. Archuletta, 526 P.2d 911 (Utah 1974), this court stated that "there is nothing to construe where there is no ambiguity in the statute." This same principle was applied in Matheson v. Crockett, 577 P.2d 948 (Utah 1978), wherein the court stated:

We may look to the intention of the legislature when there exists an ambiguity in the language of the statute. Here we find no ambiguity at all [577 P.2d at 949]

In the recent case of Utah State Democratic Committee v.

Monson, 652 P.2d 890 (1982), this court made the following statement:

Lastly, Huish points out that §20-1-15 and §20-3-3 are legislative expressions that election laws shall be liberally construed to insure persons "full opportunity" to become candidates and for voters to express their choice. Those expressions, however, avail us nothing because there is nothing to construe where there is no ambiguity in the statute. State v. Archuletta, Utah, 526 P.2d 911 (1974); H--L-- v. Matheson, Utah, 604 P.2d 907 (1979). [652 P.2d at 893]

In H--L-- v. Matheson, 604 P.2d 907 (Utah 1979), the argument was raised that the term "if possible" in a statute was ambiguous.

This court stated:

There is no ambiguity in the term "if possible" within the context of subsection (2); and, therefore, there is no basis to construe the term beyond its literal, plain meaning. [604 P.2d at 913]

This court has made it clear, as shown above, that reference to the underlying intent of the legislature or drafters of a statute is unnecessary when construing the terms in the statute unless those terms are ambiguous. Sugarhouse Finance looked to the express language of the statute to determine the meaning of bad faith. Utah Code Annotated §22-1-1 defines good faith as follows: "A thing is done 'in good faith' when it is in fact done honestly, whether it is done negligently or not." The court in Sugarhouse Finance made a logical and reasonable decision when it stated that "'Bad faith' is the antithesis of good faith and has been defined in the cases to be when a thing is done dis-

...and not merely negligently." 440 P.2d at 870. The language of the statute is clear on its face. It is not ambiguous, and there is no need to go beyond the plain language of the statute in defining bad faith.

However, even if the legislative intent is considered, the court must "construe [statutes] in light of the total context of the legislation" Cannon v. McDonald, supra. This was done by the Utah court in Sugarhouse Finance where it defined the purposes of the Fiduciaries Act, which are to facilitate banking by narrowing the bank's liability, and to put the responsibility for honest fiduciaries on the principal. The definition of bad faith applied in Sugarhouse Finance and approved in Braswell Motor Fgt. Lines, Inc., clearly comports with the purposes of the statute.

Respondent notes with interest that nearly every case and legal treatise cited by appellant to support its argument that bad faith does not mean dishonesty predate Sugarhouse Finance and Braswell Motor Fgt. Lines, Inc. Specifically, Goodman v. Simons, 20 How. 343 (1857), does not even involve a claim made against a bank where one of its depositors was a fiduciary. The instant case must be determined within the confines and context of the fiduciaries statute, upon which plaintiff relies. Goodman v. Simons is irrelevant to the instant case because it does not involve a similar fact situation or the same statute. Every case cited by appellant to support its argument,

except two, were available to the Utah Supreme Court at the time it made its decision in Sugarhouse Finance and Braswell. The court chose to follow the clear language of the statute as well as the intent of the legislature in holding that bad faith means dishonesty, and those decisions should not be overruled.

Appellant argues that if a bank remains passive in the face of facts clearly suggesting fiduciary misconduct, then bad faith exists. However, one of the cases cited by appellant belies this very argument. Appellant quotes from the case of Davis v. Penn. Co. for Ins. on Lives and Granting Annuities, 337 Pa. 456, 12 A.2d 66 (1940), at page 16 of its brief as follows:

At what point does negligence cease and bad faith begin? The distinction between them is that bad faith, or dishonesty is, unlike negligence, wilful. The mere failure to make inquiry, even though there be suspicious circumstances, does not constitute bad faith . . . unless such failure is due to the deliberate desire to evade knowledge because of a belief or fear that inquiry would disclose a vice or defect in the transaction, -- that is to say, where there is an intentional closing of the eyes or the stopping of the ears. [emphasis added]

Davis clearly indicates that passive behavior on the part of a bank cannot constitute bad faith. Davis states that bad faith means dishonesty and requires wilful, intentional conduct on the part of a bank.

The Utah Supreme Court is not alone in holding that proof of bad faith requires proof of dishonesty. In Board of County Commissioners v. First National Bank, 368 P.2d 132 (Wyo.

1961), the Wyoming Supreme Court adopted the same definition of bad faith as Utah's court adopted in Sugarhouse Finance. The Wyoming court quoted approvingly the following statement from Spiegel v. Beacon Participations, Inc., 297 Mass. 398, 8 N.E.2d 395 (1937):

"'Bad faith' is a general and somewhat indefinite term. It has no constricted meaning. It cannot be defined with exactness. It is not simply bad judgment. It is not merely negligence. It imports a dishonest purpose or some moral obliquity. It implies conscious doing of wrong. It means a breach of a known duty through some motive of interest or ill will. It partakes of the nature of fraud." [368 P.2d at 139]

National Cas. Co. v. Caswell & Co., 317 Ill.App. 66, 45 N.E. 2d 698 (1942), stated that "Bad faith imports a dishonest purpose and implies wrongdoing through some motive of self-interest."

The New Mexico Supreme Court analyzed the bad faith standard under the Fiduciaries Act in Transport Trucking Co. v. First National Bank, 61 N.M. 320, 300 P.2d 476 (1956), and stated:

The sections of the Fiduciaries Act mentioned and other sections of the Act indicate exculpation or the relieving of a bank when it is sought to be charged by a fiduciary's principal. The Act provides that the bank may be chargeable when its action in receiving the deposit or paying the check amounts to bad faith, such action of the bank must be wilful and even though there be suspicious circumstances, the failure to make inquiry does not constitute bad faith on the part of the bank. The purpose of the Uniform Fiduciary Act was to facilitate banking transactions by relieving a depository,

acting honestly, of the duty of inquiry as to the right of its depositors, even though fiduciaries, to check out their accounts. [emphasis added] [300 P.2d at 479]

The New Mexico Supreme Court also quoted approvingly from Davis v. Penn. Co., 337 Pa. 456, 12 A.2d 66 (1940), in the case of Roswell State Bank v. Lawrence Walker Cotton Co., 56 N.M. 107, 240 P.2d 1143 (1952), wherein it was stated:

"The words 'bad faith' are not defined in the act, but Section 1(a), 20 P.S. §3311(1)(a), states that 'A thing is done "in good faith" within the meaning of this act, when it is in fact done honestly, whether it be done negligently or not.' Since 'bad' is the antonym of 'good,' it follows that a thing is done in bad faith, within the meaning of the act, only when it is done dishonestly and not merely negligently." [240 P.2d at 1148]

One of the earliest cases analyzing the Uniform Fiduciaries Act was Colby v. Riggs National Bank, 92 F.2d 183 (D.C.Cir. 1937). The court defined bad faith as follows:

[W]e think the . . . expression, acts done with knowledge of such facts as amount to bad faith, means, as indicated by subsection (2) of §1, acts done dishonestly. [92 F.2d at 194]

Subsection (2) of §1, referred to by the District of Columbia Circuit Court in the Colby case is the definition of good faith. It states:

A thing is done "in good faith" within the meaning of this Act [Chapter], when it is in fact done honestly, whether it be done negligently or not. [92 F.2d at 188, Footnote 4]

The same basic definition of good faith is contained in Utah Fiduciaries Act.

Guild v. First National Bank of Nevada, 553 P.2d 955 (Nev. 1976), cited by appellant in support of its position, in fact requires much more than the passive standard proposed by appellant. The Nevada Supreme Court stated:

The underlying purpose of the [Uniform Fiduciaries] Act was to facilitate the performance by fiduciaries of their obligations, rather than to favor any particular class of persons dealing with fiduciaries. . . . The Act was clearly meant to relax the standards of care owed by banks to principals and third parties when dealing with fiduciary accounts. . . . Liability cannot be predicated on a showing of lack of due care, or negligence, because "bad faith" imports a moral connotation approximating purposeful or motivated conduct (misconduct). [553 P.2d at 958]

On the basis of the foregoing, respondent respectfully suggests to the court that the definition of bad faith applied in the trial court as set forth in Sugarhouse Finance, is the proper legal standard to be applied under Utah Code Annotated §22-1-9. Since appellant readily admits that it cannot meet the burden of proof to show dishonest conduct on the part of respondent, this court should affirm the decision of the lower court.

POINT II.

THE TRIAL COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT THAT THE BANK DID NOT HAVE ACTUAL KNOWLEDGE OF MISAPPROPRIATION AND DID NOT ACT IN BAD FAITH ARE SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE AND SHOULD NOT BE DISTURBED ON APPEAL.

Appellant does not dispute in its brief the trial court's finding that the Bank paid out checks on First Capital's account without actual knowledge of misappropriation. "Actual knowledge," as used in U.C.A. §22-1-9 was defined in Colby v. Riggs National Bank, *supra*, as follows:

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